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1 all these acronyms, but -

Page 6211

2 JUDGE SIPPEL: I follow what

3 you're saying. DBS is the -

4 THE WITNESS: Is 40 percent below

5 what it should be in Philadelphia, but for

6 Comcast's discriminatory behavior there.

7 JUDGE SIPPEL: Now, who did that

8 calculation?

9 THE WITNESS: Well, several

10 economist:s. I did, Mr. Orszag did, and then

11 an economist named Dr. Bamberger. Three

12 economist:s put forward record evidence into

13 the Adelphia proceeding. Two of them are

14 sitting here today. Okay? But the Commission

15 did its own analysis. Okay? So, you actually

16 have four independent studies of what happened

17 in Philadelphia. And the Commission

18 determined, after looking at all of our

19 submissions, including Mr. Orszag's

20 submission, that DBS penetration is 40 percent

21 today, back in 2006, is 40 percent of what it

22 -- below what it should be. Okay? So, it
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1 should have been 20 percent, instead, it was

2 10 percent, roughly. Okay? That is, DBS

3 operators cannot get a foothold in

4 Philadelphia.

Page 6212

5

6 that the -

7

8

9

JUDGE SIPPEL: DBS would be -- is

THE WITNESS: DirecTV and Dish.

JUDGE SIPPEL: -- satellite -

THE WITNESS: Yes. DirecTV and

10 Dish. Yes. They're at 10 percent. The

11 Commission thought they should be at 20

12 percent. The only difference that -- the only

13 thing that can explain why they were doing so

14 horribly in Philadelphia was the fact that

15 they did not have access to the RSN. Why not?

16 Because Comcast had vertically integrated and

17 locked it, up, made it exclusive. Okay?

18

19

20

Q

A

BY MR. KIM:

Dr. Singer -

Oh, I didn't -- all right. I

21 guess, I'm -

22 JUDGE SIPPEL: No, no. That's-

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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THE WITNESS: I don't know if I

Page 6213 '

2 got to the punch line.

3

4

JUDGE SIPPEL: Don't apologize.

THE WITNESS: You can take me to

5 the punch line.

6 MR. KIM: If I don't, I'm sure

7 you'll get there.

8 BY MR. KIM:

9 Q Dr. Singer, on Paragraph 88 of

10 your report -

11

12

A I was going on too long.

JUDGE SIPPEL: paragraph 88 of

13 your test:imony.

14

15

THE WITNESS: Yes.

JUDGE SIPPEL: It's really not a

16 report, it's testimony.

17 MR. KIM: That's true, Your Honor.

18 I'm sorry. I'm using the term too loosely

19 here. Paragraph 88 of your testimony.

20 JUDGE SIPPEL: Under penalty of

21 perjury, that's a tough one.

22 BY MR. KIM:

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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Paragraph 88 of your testimony,

Page 6214

2 Doctor, you indicate that Mr. Orszag found a

3 price that was higher for Comcast in

4 Philadelphia. Do you correctly record it in

5 your testimony?

6 A I do not. I noticed this two

7 nights a90, as I was re-reading Paragraph 88.

8 This is small, but I inadvertently said 7

9 percent, and it should be $7. I apologize for

10 that, and that's something I'd like to

11 correct. But the testimony that Mr. Orszag

12 put in when he was working against Comcast,

13 was that Comcast's discriminatory strate9Y in

14 Philadelphia has caused prices to be between

15 $3 and $7 per subscriber per month higher than

16 what it should be, if Comcast did not engage

17 in this discriminatory strate9Y. If I could -

18 - oh, sorry.

19 JUDGE SIPPEL: No, no. Where is

20 the seven? I'm trying to find the seven.

21 THE WITNESS: Oh, seven is in the

22 middle of the paragraph, Your Honor. It's

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 Paragraph 88 -

Page 6215

2 JUDGE SIPPEL: It's written down

3 as seven" but it should be $7.

4 THE WITNESS: $7, I apologize for

5 that. There's a loop that I didn't get to

6 close, if I could make. It's that there are

7 two types of discrimination that the

8 Commission is worried about, that the Cable

9 Act is worried about. And I want to make sure

10 Your Honor sees the connection between the

11 two.

12 One is what we have here today,

13 which is the refusal -- which is

14 discrimination against an independent RSN.

15 Comcast is showing preference, carriage

16 preference to its affiliated RSN in the

17 contested areas. Right?

18 There's another type of

19 discrimination that the Cable Act cares about,

20 which is from the other direction, which is

21 when you own the RSN, you're unfairly

22 withholding it from your downstream

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 competitors. And one is called "Program

2 Access", one is called "Program Carriage."

3 Your Honor, I'd like you to see

4 these two types of strategies as being two

5 sides of the same coin, in the following way;

6 that the purpose of what Comcast was up to in

7 Philadelphia, and successfully executed, and

8 the purpose of what Comcast was up to in

9 Washington, but, fortunately, smelled out by

10 the Commission in its Adelphia Order and

11 stopped, was they wanted to force these guys

12 to-

Page 6216 '

13

14 MASN?

15

16

17

JUDGE SIPPEL: "These guys" being

THE WITNESS: MASN.

JUDGE SIPPEL: Okay.

THE WITNESS: To turn over -- they

18 knew that if they did not carry MASN in

19 Washington, they would kill MASN. Okay?

20 Would kill it. So, what they wanted to do was

21 force MA.SN to turn over ownership in the

22 programming rights, so that they could, in

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 turn, discriminate against their downstream

2 rivals, by either withholding it, or by

3 charging an exorbitant price for it, as they

4 do in Chicago. Okay?

Page 6217

5 JUDGE SIPPEL: Wait a minute. I

6 thought we were in Philadelphia.

7 THE WITNESS: I know, and I told

8 you that I'm just going to give you two, but

9 there are examples of this sort of

10 discrimination happening all across the

11 country. I don't want to provide you all of

12 them at once, but the grand finale of the

13 discriminatory scheme, after you cut off the

14 oxygen to the independent RSN, and you secure

15 the programming. Part two, which they,

16 fortunately, didn't get to in Washington,

17 because the commission stopped them, is to

18 deny it, or to provide it on discriminatory

19 terms to your downstream rival. Okay?

20 In Philadelphia, they just flat

21 out deny it. They don't sell it. They refuse

22 to sell it, refuse to sell CSN Philly to

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 DirecTV and Dish Network. In Chicago, the

2 discrimination was a little more subtle. They

3 sell it, but they doubled the price. okay.

4 Why is that discrimination? Because paying

5 themselves double the price is an internal

6 transfer. Comcast writes a check to itself

7 for $5 per subscriber per month. It doesn't

8 matter what it is. But it's sufficiently high

9 so as to disadvantage DirecTV and Dish Network

10 in Chicago.

Page 6218

11 So, we all saw what they were

12 trying to do in Washington. In the interest

13 of disclosure, I was working for MASN, and I

14 was telli.ng the FCC what was going to happen.

15 The FCC spotted it, they stopped it, clearly,

16 in their Adelphia order. And it has allowed

17 MASN to, at least, get a leg up in the

18 marketplace.

19 BY MR. KIM:

20 Q Let me take you to the end then,

21 Dr. Singer. You talked -

22 JUDGE SIPPEL: No, I'm okay.

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 Don't worry about my physical looks. Okay?

Page 6219 ,

2

3

(Laughter. )

MR. KIM: Your Honor, should I

4 worry about your physical looks?

5 THE WITNESS: Should I, I think.

6 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, it's the

7 witness I'm worried about. No, go ahead.

8

9 Q

BY MR. KIM:

You mentioned, Dr. Singer, that

10 they have not been able to kill MASN in D.C.,

11 so let's talk about unfair arm. Do you

12 understand the magnitude of Comcast's decision

13 not to carry MASN to the about_

14 subscribers we're talking about?

15

16

A

Q

I understand the magnitude.

Okay. Why do you think that's

17 unfair harm if they're still alive?

18 A Right. Right. So, I think what

19 you're aE:king is, is there a requirement that

20 we find t,hat this discrimination would deliver

21 the knockout punch. Would it kill MASN? And,

22 no, and I don't think there's any dispute

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 here. Conditional on having access to

2 Baltimore and Washington, which are the inner

3 -- the core markets, if you will, MASN is not

4 going to die. Right?

5 The question then is, and

6 according to the statute, I understand is,

7 does it impair MASN's ability to compete

8 fairly in the contested areas? And, to that,

9 my answer is yes. And we can go through all

10 the ways that I understand it is.

Page 6220

11 Q Sure. So, how is MASN's ability

12 to compete fairly in those areas affected by

13 Comcast' E: decision not to carry MASN?

14 A Sure. So, let's talk about, to

15 begin, competition for programming. Right?

16 For the r·ights-ho1ders. I want to go up

17 against -- if I'm MASN, I want to go up

18 against CSNMA for Redskins pre-season games,

19 and we're competing for - we keep going to

20 this example - but we're really competing for

21 all the products, all the programming rights

22 in this region. But, the Redskins example

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 really nicely indicates the harm that is

2 associated with Comcast's discrimination here.

Page 6221

3 Why? MASN has a hole in its

4 footprint. No one can deny it. Okay? They

5 caused it. Everyone knows it. And MASN goes

6 to the bargaining table with the Redskins, and

7 says we want to carry you guys on MASN, and

8 we're prepared to pay you a very big number,

9 and have exclusive rights to the Redskins pre-

10 season games for five years. And what does

11 the Redskins say? You know what, we really

12 want people in Roanoke, and Tri-Cities DMA to

13 follow the Redskins, be Red:;::kins fans, come

14 out to the stadium sometimes, and watch our

15 pre-season games. And, you know, when we look

16 at your bid, we look at you, and we look at

17 CSN Philly - sorry - CSNMA, they don't have

18 that disadvantage. So, we're going to go with

19 CSNMA.

20 And the testimony by Mr. Cuddihy

21 that we heard yesterday explains that they

22 told him as they were walking out the door

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 that this was the deal breaker.

2 BY MR. KIM:

Page 6222

3 Q But, Dr. Singer, they won the

4 Ravens rights.

5 A Well, in my opinion, they won it

6 despite this hindrance. And we already know,

7 again, through the testimony of Mr. Cuddihy

8 that the Ravens are already moaning about the

9 fact that there are coverage gaps in

10 Harrisburog. Right? So, in a sense, they've

11 jeopardized, they put in jeopardy on a going

12 forward basis, that relationship.

13 Q All other things being equal, from

14 an economic perspective, what would the Ravens

15 demand from MASN to cover the shortfall it has

16 in its coverage?

17 A I mean, the question is whether or

18 not there's a price that can compensate the

19 Ravens for that hole in MASN's footprint. I'm

20 not sure that there is. I mean,

21 theoretically, we can imagine that the two

22 guys sit down, the Ravens sit down with MASN,

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 and the Ravens start bellyaching about the

2 hole in t:he footprint caused by Comcast.

3 It's conceivable that, in theory,

4 MASN could raise its offer price to infinity

5 or some huge number, such that the Ravens will

6 be compensated for that hole. But it might be

7 somethin~r so damaging to the Ravens, so

8 important to the Ravens that no price will fix

9 it. In either scenario, MASN is impaired

10 significantly in its ability to compete

11 against CSN Philly for those rights.

Page 6223

12 Q What about advertisers? And I

13 think the Court, yesterday, was asking for

14 specific examples. Do you have a specific

15 example for advertising?

16 A Sure. I have two, in fact, and I

17 think Mr. Cuddihy spoke of one yesterday

18 during his testimony. But it's the same

19 problem, Your Honor. The holes in MASN's

20 territory, as I refer to them in my report as

21 the coverage gaps, are not only critical to

22 programmers, to rights holders, sorry, to

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 rights holders, like the Redskins, but they're

2 also critical to advertisers.

3 So, let's go to the_

4 example, as I understand it from Mr. Cuddihy.

5 But you heard this one yesterday, I'm just

6 going to rephrase. _ wants to put

7 together a across

8 MASN's footprint to make a joint bid on an

9 advertisi.ng buy from MASN. Okay? And MASN -

10 there is some understanding that MASN, I

11 thi.nk at the time the deal was struck, that

12 there waE: no hole. I think that MASN didn't

13 understand the magnitude of the hole when the

14 original deal got signed up.

15 __ in Tri-Cities or

16 Roanoke call up _, and then the_

17 liaison contacts MASN and says hey, what in

18 the world is going on here? We thought that

19 we had -- we thought you had the whole

20 territory covered, but it turns out there's a

21 gap. And my local _ are upset with me

22 right now. What are you going to do about it?

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 We want a rebate. Okay? And MASN says well,

2 you know, we'll try to get you a rebate, but

3 whether or not they pay the rebate, the

4 relationship on a going forward basis is

5 damaged, because of a coverage gap.

6 And I want to make this point,

Page 6225

7 too, tha~ I don't came out yesterday. It's

8 very important. The advertising that gets

9 destroyed or foregone is not just a little

10 piece of advertising that's in the contested

11 areas, Your Honor. The advertising contracts

12 are written on a per eyeball basis. Okay?

13 So, if we enter into a contract, I'm MASN and

14 you're the advertiser, when we write the

15 contract, Your Honor, it's denominated in

16 terms of the number of eyeballs. Okay? So,

17 when I go back to you and I say there's three

18 holes in my coverage territory, even if you

19 stay with me, and even if we're advertising to

20 everybody else, it still reduces my revenues.

21 I don't think that point came across

22 yesterday, and I just want to make sure that

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 everyone hears it, and at least considers it,

2 that the harm, the foregone advertising

3 revenue is not just the lost contracts, like

Page 6226

4 _, or we'll get into, if you

5 want to talk about another example. _

6 _ ci ted to MASN holes in MASN I S coverage

7 territo~r as a reason for not wanting to

8 advertise with MASN.

9 But it's not just the customers,

10 it's not just the advertising customers who

11 you lose, you're also losing money on the

12 advertising customers who you retain, because

13 now you I roe getting less advertising revenue

14 because of the way in which the contracts are

15 written on a per eyeball basis.

16

17

Q Dr. Singer -

MR. BURKE: I move to strike the

18 portion of Dr. Singer's testimony regarding

19 the rebate. That was specifically objected to

20 during Mr. Cuddihy's testimony, and it was

21 ruled by Your Honor as outside the scope of

22 his direct. More generally, I think that,

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 basically, what Dr. Singer has done is

2 paraphrased in a large measure incorrectly

3 what a lot of the testimony of Mr. Cuddihy

Page 6227

4 was, but I'm we'll deal with that when we

5 actually get to cross. But I think on that

6 particular issue, Mr. CUddihy was instructed

7 not to testify.

8

9 testimony.

THE WITNESS: It's in his written

10 MR. KIM: Your Honor, I believe

11 it's in the testimony. It's in evidence right

12 now, so I'm not sure what happened -

13

14 testimony?

15

JUDGE SIPPEL: Mr. Cuddihy's

MR. KIM: Mr. CUddihy's written

16 testimony is in evidence. It was accepted

17 without objection. And I believe the liliiii
18 example that Dr. Singer relies upon is in

19 evidence, so I'm not sure what the objection

20 is.

21 JUDGE SIPPEL: You said something

22 about testimony in there about rebates that I

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 - - that-

Page 6228

2 MR. BURKE: That's right.

3 Yesterday, Your Honor, there was -- Mr.

4 Cuddihy, who testified at much shorter length

5 on all these subjects than Dr. Singer just

6 did, was testifying on that. It was objected

7 to as outside the scope, and you granted that

8 objection, and instructed him not to speak on

9 that sub:iect. So, I don't see how Dr. Singer

10 can do that.

11 JUDGE SIPPEL: Now, wait a minute.

12 I do recall him testifying about the -- I

13 mean, the _ scenario was circumstances

14 under which it was -- they discovered, MASN

15 discovered that they were not getting coverage

16 down ther'e.

17 MR. BURKE: That's correct. What

18 he testified to was that there was an

19 objection by _ But then he went on to

20 talk about this rebate issue, which I don't

21 believe was in his written direct. And it was

22 objected to, and Your Honor ruled that it was

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 outside ~he scope.

Page 6229

2 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, whatever my

3 ruling was in the transcript, but I just -- I

4 don't -- I just don't have a recollection of

5 rebate, the subject for -

6 MR. KIM: Your Honor, I can't

7 comment one way or the other, but I will say

8 that Dr. Singer's testimony not only covers

9 this issue, but Mr. Cuddihy's testimony, which

10 is in the record, his written testimony, which

11 was unob:iected to, specifically mentions in

12 paragraph 42 the _ issue. Doesn't mention

13 the rebat:e. If we want to take that part out,

14 that's fine. I can read the line in, if it

15 makes everyone happy, but I believe there's

16 ample foundation for Dr. Singer's testimony

17 regardinc::r _ and the issue it has with

18 advertising.

19 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, the only

20 thing I'll say is just be careful in finding

21 those, because if I made a ruling to that

22 extent with Mr. Cuddihy, it's going to apply

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 to every -- all witnesses.

Page 6230

2 MR. BURKE: And, again, in Mr.

3 Cuddihy's testimony, his written direct, there

4 is no mention of a rebate. It was objected

5 to, and now Dr. Singer has testified at length

6 about it. I think at least that section

7 should be struck. There are some other things

8 that I think are inaccurate summaries of Mr.

9 Cuddihy's testimony, but we'll deal with that

10 on cross.

11 MR. KIM: And that's why we have

12 cross examination, Your Honor.

13 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, all right.

14 I'm goin" to - - right now, I'm going to leave

15 the record the way it is. If you want to move

16 to strike at the end of his testimony, that's

17 fine. But where -- I don't want to resurrect

18 it. Keep going. Just keep going, sir.

19

20

21

close.

MR. KIM: Yes, we're getting very

I'm -

JUDGE SIPPEL: No, I'm not

22 impatient. No, don't get me wrong.

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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MR. KIM: Dr. Cuddihy -

(Laughter. )

MR. KIM: Is he not Dr. Cuddihy?

JUDGE SIPPEL: Cuddihy is at a

Page 6231

5 concert. Bruce Springsteen.

6

7

8 Q

(Laughter. )

BY MR. KIM:

Dr. Singer, you stated that the

9 legal sta:ndard is with respect to harm to an

10 unaffiliated competitor?

11

12

A

Q

Yes.

Okay. Have you analyzed the

13 additional question of harm to competition and

14 consumers?

15

16

A

Q

Yes, I have.

Okay. Tell us what you think

17 about that, very briefly.

18 A Sure. In economics, there's very

19 specific requirements that one has to satisfy

20 to make t:he next step; that is, to show that

21 harm to a rival redounds to the harm of

22 consumen:. Stated differently. it is possible

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 for a rival to be foreclosed, a rival to be

2 harmed, but yet there be no harm to consumers.

3 And I just want to point out that in the

4 statute, as I'm reading it, there is not this

Page 6232

5 requirement. It just says, "Discrimination on

6 the basis of affiliation and impair a rival's

7 ability to compete fairly." But, in my

8 report, I go one step further to try to

9 demonstrate that the harm to MASN does, in

10 fact, redound to the harm of consumers.

11 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, that's

12 somethin,J that always, I wouldn't say it

13 concerned me, but I didn't think that the

14 statute -- well, I read the statute exactly as

15 you did. It's pretty broad. Go ahead.

16

17 Q

BY MR. KIM:

So, in your analysis you went the

18 extra mile and analyzed harm to competition

19 and consumers.

20 A I did. As an economist, I wanted

21 to satisfy the economists in the crowd. But

22 it does go beyond, as the Judge just

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 mentioned. It does go beyond what I think

2 everyone agrees is required in the statute.

Page 6233 ,

3 MR. KIM: Thank you, Dr. Singer.

4 Your Honor, I'll pass the witness.

5 JUDGE SIPPEL: Cross examination.

6 Are you all set to go, or do you want to wait

7 until tomorrow morning? What do you want to

8 do?

9 MR. BURKE: I think it's 6:00,

10 Your Honor. Perhaps it would make sense to

11 reconvene tomorrow. I'm happy to go for a bit,

12 if you prefer, but whatever -- it is a little

13 bit late in the day.

14 JUDGE SIPPEL: Are you going to be

15 here tomorrow?

16

17

THE WITNESS: Yes.

JUDGE SIPPEL: Or else I would

18 have told you you were going to be here

19 tomorrow.

20 (Laughter.)

21 THE WITNESS: But my juices are

22 flowing, if you want to do a half an hour, I'm

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 up for it now.

Page 6234

2 JUDGE SIPPEL: Yes. Let's -- I'll

3 tell you what. Let's just get it started.

4 I'm goin'J to try to shoot for 6: 15, not

5 because of any magic to that time, but let's

6 see what you can do in 15 minutes.

7 MR. BURKE: Dr. Singer, your

8 juices are flowing. Is that right?

9

10

11

THE WITNESS: Yes.

CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR. BURKE:

12 Q You're pretty passionate about

13 this stuff. Right?

14 A I am, yes.

15 Q Your voice kind of got a little

16 more loud in the course of your testimony.

17 Did you notice that?

18 A I think you know, I do have some

19 hearing issues, so if I'm not modulating the

20 voice correctly, but I do have some passion

21 about this issue. I've been involved in these

22 issues a lot over the last years, dating back

Neal R. Gross & Co., Inc.
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1 to the Adelphia proceeding.

Page 6235

2 JUDGE SIPPEL: Well, I've got a

3 little secret, I should let him know, though.

4 But since you testified in the NFL case, we've

5 employed an enhancement system here for our --

6 the hearing -- what is it called?

7

8

THE WITNESS: Hearing impaired?

JUDGE SIPPEL: No, not hearing

9 impaired. No, no, no. It's just -- you speak

10 into a microphone, and it's carrying a lot

11 better than it did in the NFL case. So,

12 that's ma.ybe why his voice is getting louder.

13

14

15 Q

MR. BURKE: Yes.

BY MR. BURKE:

You've appeared as a witness, an

16 expert economist, in a number of matters

17 adverse to Comcast. Right?

18

19

A

Q

A handful, yes.

Now, for example, you, obviously,

20 as you mentioned, appeared -- put in a number

21 of submissions in co=ection with the Adelphia

22 proceeding, which you've summarized during
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